IN	THE	SUPREME	COURT	OF	FLORIDA				
	Tž	ALLAHASSE	E, FI	ORI	DA				

\mathbf{F}	Ι	$\mathbf{L}\mathbf{E}$	D
	SID	J. WHITE	

NOV 20 1996

DERRICK	CUMMINGS,)	CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk
V S .	Appellant,))	CASE NO.: 86,413 LOWER CASE NO.: 94-2237-CF
STATE OI)	
	Appellee.)	

On appeal from the Circuit Court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JEANINE B. SASSER ATTORNEY AT LAW 1717 Blanding Blvd., Ste 102 Jacksonville, Florida **3221-**Florida Bar No. 270237 **904/384-2999**

Attorney for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, DERRICK CUMMINGS was the defendant in the Circuit Court Criminal Division, Duval County, Florida. Appellee, the State of Florida, prosecuted him. The Appellant will be referred to as "Appellant" or "Defendant". Appellee will be referred to as "Appellee" or "State". References to the record on appeal, which contains the pleadings and other documents filed in the case will be "R" followed by the appropriate page numbers as assigned by the clerk. References to the transcripts of motions, trial, penalty phase and sentencing will be "T" followed by the appropriate page numbers as assigned by the court reporter.

vi

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Derrick Levon Cummings, was charged by information filed on March 8, 1994, with second-degree murder, shooting or throwing deadly missiles, escape and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. (R-10). Appellant was charged as was Andre Leartis Fisher, 'Marion L. King and Kevin Lamar Dixon. Appellant was indicted for first-degree murder, shooting or throwing deadly missiles, escape and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon by a Duval County Grand Jury on April 27, 1994. (R-70). The indictment alleged that Appellant committed first-degree murder of Shelton Lucas, Jr., with premeditated design to effect the death of Shelton Lucas, Jr. or another person. The three co-defendants, Cummings, King and Dixon, were alleged to have had a firearm in their possession during the commission of the first degree murder. In Count II, he and the other two co-defendants were charged with shooting a firearm or throwing a deadly missile into a building. Defendant was also indicted for escape, and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon with the prior felony being the sale and delivery of cocaine. (R-70).

Detective Gilbreath testified before the grand jury as the sole witness. He testified that, prior to appearing before the grand jury, he would have reviewed the homicide supplement report. (R-476). He did not take any exhibits into the room other than photographs. (R-476). He did not present any depositions, sworn statements, or written reports such as the homicide supplement

report to the Grand Jury. (R-476). Prior to testifying, it was his understanding that the statements given by defendant Fisher and defendant, claimed that Kevin Dixon had done all the shooting. (R-478). He did not, however, present any statements of Andre Fisher or Defendant. (R-483).

He advised the grand jury that he had the cooperation of King. (R-493). He testified that King indicated that Cummings, Dixon and Fisher had gotten out at the house. They knew there were three firearms involved in the ballistics. (R-494). He advised the jury that Andre Fisher had a dispute with Pap. Dap stayed at the residence that was shot, according to King, and that prior to the shots being fired, the father of the child had been on the car-port for the purpose of smoking a cigarette. (R-495). He told the grand jury that he had talked with the father of the deceased child. The father said that he had been out there and "that King told O'Steen that as they rounded the corner, one of the participants in the car said, 'there he is', and pointed to a figure in the car port." (R-495). This is testimony that is solely derived from Marion King. (R-495, 496). He further advised the Grand Jury that King had been there and had given them that story. (R-496).

Subsequent to the grand jury testimony, Marion King was discredited and, in fact, a gun belonging to him had been at the scene of the shooting. The prosecutor indicated in open court that their key witness, co-defendant Marion King, was a "liar" who had perjured himself on material facts in this case and that they could not rely on him. They therefore dropped the case against the co-

defendant Kevin Dixon on January 27, 1995. (T-233). They indicated that he would not be used at trial because he was not believable (T-237), and cannot represent that he would tell the truth. (T-259). In the case, Mr. King's testimony provided material evidence for premeditation in that he is the only one who testified that the participants in the car said "there he is". Further, he was the only one who said that there were four (4) people in the car and that the three (3) shooters got out of the car. An indictment on premeditation would be based on that statement and that statement alone. Therefore, King's testimony was material.

The state revealed that King was not trustworthy to the Court and to the defendant. However, the state never revealed to the Grand Jury that testimony relying on King was perjured and unreliable.

Counsel for Appellant filed the following motions as to the death penalty:

(1) Motion to preclude death qualifications of jurors in the innocence or guilt phase of the trial and to utilize the bifurcated jury, if a penalty phase is necessary. (R-268).

(2) Motion for evidentiary hearing and for payment of fees and costs of expert witnesses on the constitutionality of death qualifications. (R-290).

(3) Motion to prohibit instruction on the aggravating factors5(h) and 5(i).

(4) Motion to declare Section **921.141(i)** Florida Statutes unconstitutional.

(5) Motion to declare Section **921.141(5)(h)** Florida Statutes unconstitutional. (R-298).

(6) Motion to declare Section **921.141(5)(i)** Florida Statutes unconstitutional. (R-314).

(7) Motion to prohibit misleading references to the advisory role of the jury at sentencing. (R-345).

(8) Motion to adopt all constitutional and other motions filed by the Office of the Public Defender. (R-351). These included:

a. Motion to dismiss and declare Sections 782.04 and 921.141 Florida Statutes Unconstitutional for a variety of reasons;

b. Motion to Prohibit Argument and/or Instructions
Concerning First Degree Felony Murder;

c. Motion for Statement of Aggravating Circumstances:

d. Motion to Declare Sections 921.141 and 922.10, Florida Statutes, Unconstitutional Because Electrocution is Cruel and Unusual Punishment;

e. Motion to Declare Section 921.141, Florida Statutes, Unconstitutional As Applied Because of Arbitrariness in Jury Overrides and Sentencing;

f. Motion for Evidentiary Hearing;

g. Motion to Preclude Death Qualification of Jurors in the Innocence or Guilt Phase of the Trial and to Utilize a Bifurcated Jury, if a Penalty Phase is Necessary:

h. Motion for Additional Peremptory Challenges;

i. Motion for Evidentiary Hearing, and for Payment of Fees and Costs of Expert and Lay Witnesses, on the Constitutionality of Death by Electrocution;

j. Motion to Declare Sections 782.04 and 921.141, Florida Statutes, Unconstitutional Because of Treatment of Mitigating Circumstances;

h. Motion Requesting Proffer of "Victim Impact Evidence";

i. Motion to Exclude Evidence or Argument Designed to Create Sympathy for the Deceased;

j. Demand for Disclosure to Exculpatory Evidence;

1. Motion to Dismiss Indictment:

m. Amended Motion to Dismiss Indictment: and

Trial counsel, in addition, filed a motion to Dismiss Indictment Due to Perjured Testimony Given to Grand Jury. (R-361). The motion to dismiss the Indictment was denied by the Court. (T-208). The court authorized the deposition of Detective Gilbreath and O'Steen to divulge the Grand Jury Testimony. (T-208).

Defendant's motion for continuance was denied. (T-221). The Co-Defendants, Kevin Dixon, case was **nol_prossed** by the State Attorney's office. (T-233). The Public Defender invoked **Co-**Defendant's Fifth Amendment privilege not to testify. (T-240). Jury selection was held on January 30, 1995.

During voir dire, the Appellant exhausted his peremptory challenges. The Court denied the request for additional challenges. (T-537). As a result, Mr. Bold, who had been unsuccessfully challenged for cause, was left on the jury and served as the foreman. (R-402)

The Court denied the Defendant's motion to dismiss the indictment, (T-613), because there was no showing that the indictment was the result of perjured testimony and because even if the court did dismiss the indictment, it would accomplish nothing except a delay because the State would re-indict based on other evidence. (T-614).

The Court also held argument on a motion to preclude the state from arguing felony murder. (T-614). The State was precluded from arguing felony murder based on burglary in their opening statement, (T-626) but they were allowed to argue felony murder. The motion for judgment of acquittal at the end of the evidence was denied. (T-1074).

Closing arguments were held and the prosecutor argued that several times, the Defendant stated take me to get my "shit". (T-1171, 1173). Additionally, the prosecutor argued "Does he say I'm sorry?" (T-1186). "Only for shooting at the car". The prosecutor continued in that vein to argue that upon hearing that the child was shot, the Defendant said, "so fuck it". (T-1187). He didn't claim that it was an accident or say I didn't mean to kill the baby. He made threats instead. (T-1188, 1190). During closing, defense objected to the state attorney arguing "the first words. Does he say I'm sorry? Does he say I was only shooting at the car?" (T-1186). The Defendant's attorney objected within the rules and the state continued to argue "Did he ask 'Oh my God I was just

б

shooting at the car?' Did he say 'I didn't mean that to happen?'" Looking to the jury, the prosecutor said, "I apologize, but I'm using the killers words, his first words after hearing this baby boy had been shot, 'So fuck it. So fuck it.' his first words . .." (T-1187-1188).

In the jury charge conference, the Court found that there was no felony murder apparent in this case and did not instruct on it. (T-1084). The Court found that as a matter of law, felony murder did not apply. (T-1085).

The Appellant was convicted of first degree murder. (R-402). On March 8, 1995, when the State filed its Notice of Filing Victim Impact Statement (R-411) the defense objected to the Victim Impact argument stating it would simply create sympathy for the deceased (T-1378) as well as be used as a non-statutory aggravating circumstance. The Defense also filed a Request to Instruct on Victim Impact Evidence which was denied. (R-421).

Defense counsel filed requests for penalty phase jury instructions. (R-425). At the penalty phase hearing, over Defendant's objections, the Court instructed on the following aggravating circumstances:

 Defendant, in committing the crime for which he is to be sentenced, knowingly created a great risk of death to many persons: (T-1396).

2. The crime for which Defendant is to be sentenced was committed while he was engaged in the commission or flight after

the commission or attempt to commit the crime of **burglary**; (T-1400, T-1401).

3. The **crime** was cold, calculated, and premeditated. (T-1411). Over objection the Court modified the cold, calculated and premeditated instruction to state "heightened premeditation necessary for the circumstances do not have to be directed toward **a** specific person." (T-1414). Defendant requested a limiting instruction regarding Victim Impact Statements, (R-421), which was denied.

A majority of the jury, by a vote of 10 to 2, recommended the imposition of the death penalty. (R-429). A Motion for New Trial was filed on March 30, 1995, (R-431) and was denied. (R-432).

On July 28, 1995, Appellant was sentenced to die for. the charge of first degree murder. (R-440). The Court issued a sentencing order and found as an aggravating circumstance that the Defendant knowingly created **a** great risk of death to many persons and weighed this factor only slightly. (R-451). Additionally, the Court found that the capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged or was an accomplice in the commission of or in an attempt **to commit** or flight after committing or attempting to **commit** a burglary. The Court gave "some, but not great **weight"**, (R-452), to this factor. The Court found as a third aggravating circumstance that the capital felony was a homicide and was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of law and legal justification. The Court indicated **that** the statement by the Defendant after being told a child had been

shot, "So fuck it", showed a "prior and on-going mind set". Great weight was given to this factor. (R-453). The Court found no mitigating circumstances. (R-454). Finally, the Court found that there was **no** issue of proportionality for the third co-defendant, King, who only drove the car. Additionally, the Court did not mention the fourth co-defendant, Dixon. (R-457). The Court found Defendant to be a major participant in the homicide who contemplated lethal force and exhibited a reckless disregard of human life. (R-458). Appellant timely filed a Notice of Appeal. (R-468).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On February 15, 1994, Shelton Lucas, Sr., spent the day at 5206 Washington Estates Drive with his wife and children. (T-678-679). His brother-in-law, Carlon Johnson, also known as "Dap", visited the home on that day. He formerly lived there. (T-679, 680). Dap's car was parked under the carport and had been parked there for about a month. (T-680). Dap was wearing blue jeans and a tee-shirt on that evening. Shelton Lucas, Sr., was dressed in the same manner. (T-680). Shelton Lucas is 6'1" and weighs 210-220 lbs. Dap is 6'2" and weighs 210-220 lbs. (T-681).

Mr. Lucas ate dinner with his family and watched t.v. after dinner. At approximately 9:00 p.m., he went outside on the carport to have a cigarette. (T-681, 682). As he finished, he turned and went back inside; he noticed a car coming down the street, although he did not pay much attention to it. He walked across the room and heard a popping sound. (T-682). His wife woke up and yelled "He's hit". (T-682). Their son, Shelton Lucas, Jr., had been hit in the head. (T-682). He turned to look and saw his son kicking and gasping for air. (T-682).

The carport faced Dostie and Washington Estates Drive. It was open on both sides and from the kitchen door you could see through the carport to Washington Estates Drive. (T-693). The car that approached the carport was coming from Dostie. (T-693). There was no overhead light on in the carport **(T-694)**, but there were lights on in the rest of the house. (T-694). The lights were also on in the living room where the television was and where his wife and son

were was asleep. (T-696). There were no bullet holes in the home prior to the shooting. (T-697). When Mr. Lucas, Sr. was standing on the carport steps, in relation to the kitchen door, smoking a cigarette, he testified he would have been visible from the side. (T-698-699).

Shelton Lucas, Jr. died on February 16th at University Hospital. (T-700).

On cross-examination, Mr. Lucas indicated that he was outside smoking a cigarette for a couple of minutes and only saw a car when he was getting ready to go back in the house. (T-701). He walked into his house while the car was by his neighbors'. (T-701). He walked through the kitchen and into the living room, put his cigarettes up, and closed the door behind him.' (T-702). Before he heard any noises, he was in the second room. (T-702).

Charlsie Lewis testified that she lives at 5206 Washington Estates Drive with her two children, Saneka and **Jarrell** Lucas. (T-721). She has lived there all of her life, 30 years. (T-721). She has a brother named **Carlon** Johnson who goes by the nickname of "Dap". (T-721).

Around 9:00 p.m. on February 15, 1994, she was asleep on the sofa in her home. (T-721). Her son was in her arms asleep on the couch with her. (T-722, 723). She was awakened by the sound and vibrations of what sounded like firecrackers being thrown in the home. (T-723). She got up, looked around and shots started entering the home. Something went past her face and she could feel the heat from it. She grabbed her child, pulled him up and yelled,

"He's been hit". (T-723, 724). She put her child down and ran out of the house.

Her son **was** hit in the head. He was taken to the hospital by rescue. He died on February 16, 1994. He was five (5) years old. (T-724).

Pearl Jordan lives at 7155 Dostie Drive, E., and has lived there for 30 years. (T-726). She lives across the street from the Lucas family. At approximately 9:00 p.m. on February 15, 1994, she was in her bedroom talking on the telephone when she heard a noise for about 5 minutes. (T-726). She heard a car speeding away. (T-727). She dialed 911 and then went to see Charles C. Lucas because she had heard Charlsie in the yard screaming "Someone killed my baby." (T-727). She identified the photograph of Shelton Lucas, Jr. (T-728).

Dr. Floro was qualified as an expert forensic pathologist. (T-730). He performed the autopsy on Shelton Lucas, Jr. (T-731). He died as a result of a gunshot wound to the head, with perforations of the skull and brain and the manner of the death was homicide. (T-733). The child was five (5) years old when he died. (T-734). He was shot only one time. (T-734). The **bullet** was a fully jacketed and consistent with a nine millimeter bullet. The child's gun shot wound was unusual in that it appeared elongated or oval, which suggested that the bullet was "tumbling" at the time it hit the head, which indicates that it was usually a "secondary target". The bullet had probably passed through something and then tumbled

and hit the head of the child. (T-743). The bullet was introduced into evidence (T-744).

Carlon Johnson testified that he was 26 years old and went by (T-751). On February 15, 1994, he was at his the name Dap. sister's, Charlsie Lucas', home. In the late afternoon he left her home to buy some beer. After he bought the beer, he returned and never left the house again. (T-752). About 7:00 to 8:00, he left to get more beer at the corner store. (T-753). While crossing the street from the store to get some Popeyes' fried chicken, a speeding car with no headlights drove by. It was dark and the male driver should have had the headlights on, so Dap yelled at him to turn on the lights. (T-753). The driver of the car "slammed into the second driveway, jumped out of the car, said what's up, what's up here?" The man had his hand behind his back so Dap looked to see if he had a weapon. The two exchanged words and the man swung at Dap. Dap then hit him behind the ear with a quart beer bottle. (T-754). Dap's friend, Jason, broke up the fight. The driver got in his car and sped off. Dap went back to his sister's home. Dap then rode off to Southside with a friend to stay calm.

Justin Robinson is 18 years old and lives at 6815 Rhode Island Drive E. (T-764). On the night of Tuesday, February 15, 1994, he was standing at the corner of Washington Estates and Soutel. (T-765). Around 7:30, he went to get some food at **Popeye's** on the corner of Soutel and Kings Road. (T-765). He saw Dap and two other people cross the street to Popeye's. On their way there, someone drove down the street quickly with their lights off and Dap asked

them to **turn** on their lights and slow down. (~-766). He saw Dap and the man standing in front of each other arguing at **Popeye's**, looking as though they were "fixing to **fight"**. (T-766). Mr. Robinson went to Popeye's, grabbed the driver and pushed him away. The driver, was Andre Fisher, the co-defendant. (T-767). Andre Fisher then left in the car. (T-768). Robinson told Dap and the others to go home. (T-768). Robinson, however, stayed on the corner on his bicycle. (T-768).

While Robinson was waiting on the corner, a burgundy and gray Chevrolet came up. Defendant, Derrick Cummings, who Robinson identified in the courtroom, was in the car with someone named Levy. (T-770). Mr. Cummings asked the witness if he knew who was in the fight and where everybody would be at that time of night. Robinson told him that he did not know what happened and that no one was around. (T-771). When he was talking to Defendant, Robinson saw a Uzi type gun on Defendant's lap. (T-772). The car left going back on Soutel towards Sherwood. Robinson left to use the bathroom at **Popeye's.** About 15 to 30 minutes later, Robinson saw a white Honda Accord with dark tint on the windows, driving from Sherwood onto Washington Estates off Soutel. (T-773). He recognized the driver as Marion King. (T-774). Robinson attempted to slow the car down but was unsuccessful. He also saw another person in the front passenger seat, Andre Fisher, who ducked his head underneath the tinted window. (T-774). He thought there were four (4) people in the car (T-775), but did not recognize anyone else. The car proceeded down Washington Estates

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