FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 21 1997

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SURFIEME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

DERRICK CUMMINGS,

Appellant,

ν.

CASE NO. 86,413

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01 THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

^{&#}x27;Cummings' trial counsel argued that the State's decision not to use King as a witness demonstrated that the State did not think anything King said was true, otherwise why would the State not use King to testify about those statements that "might be true." The trial court answered: 'They're pragmatic lawyers and they understand if they use him you and [counsel for Fisher] would crucify him on the other issue" (TR 613).

trial jury's "subsequent guilty verdict means not only that there was probable cause to believe that the defendants were guilty as charged, but also that they are in fact guilty as charged beyond a reasonable doubt." United States v. Mechanik, 475 U.S. 66, 70, 106 S.Ct. 938, 89 L.Ed.2d 50 (1986). The trial jury's "verdict of guilty beyond a reasonable doubt demonstrates a fortiori that there was probable cause to charge the defendants with the offenses for which they were convicted." Id. at 67. Nothing that happened in the grand jury proceedings deprived Cummings of a fair determination of his guilt or innocence, and this issue provides no basis for a reversal of his conviction.

ISSUE II

CUMMINGS HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE FOR APPEAL ANY ISSUE OF THE COURT'S REFUSAL TO EXCUSE JUROR BOLD FOR CAUSE; BUT EVEN IF THIS ISSUE IS PRESERVED, THERE WAS NO REVERSIBLE ERROR

Randall Bold stated on voir dire examination that he was married, had four children at home, and had never before served on a jury (TR 274). Bold was "undecided" about the death penalty, in contrast to the many jurors who stated that they were "for it" (TR 364). Later, however, he did state that he could impose a death sentence (TR 391-92), explaining: 'Personally I'm undecided, but if

the death penalty is part of the law, then I would follow the law, if it's -- it was part of the sentencing" (TR 430).

Defense counsel subsequently asked prospective jurors, "Does anybody here feel that the fact that the victim in this case is a child it would make you more prone to convict or convict at a higher degree as opposed to whether or not the victim were somebody that were [sic] older?" (TR 469). Some of the jurors answered that while it would not make a difference as to guilt, it might be a factor as to sentence (TR 471-73). Randall Bold responded: "I have four kids under 13 and I think that would probably weigh in the sentencing . . . for me, too" (TR 473). Defense counsel followed up this answer by asking Bold, 'When you say weigh, you mean even if you were told that's something you shouldn't consider, you think it would outweigh--" Bold interrupted to say: 'It would be in my head" (TR 474).

Counsel asked Bold no further questions on this subject. However, defense counsel later asked if anyone with young children might be "distracted" or "worried" about them if asked to serve as jurors (TR 482). Bold responded that if he could make arrangements for his parents to take care of them, it "wouldn't be on my mind;" if he could not make arrangements, he did not "know the answer" (TR 483).

Following the conclusion of the voir dire examination, the court took up challenges for cause (TR 506 et seq). One of defense counsel's challenges was to Randall Bold (TR 510):

MR. FALLIS: Your Honor, I believe Mr. Bold for cause, and not because he's got to worry about baby-sitting. He said he had four children at home and he thinks it would weigh on his decision, okay, and he couldn't put that out of his head. As the Court is aware, you know, as of now the age of the victim is not an aggravating factor.

THE COURT: I understand that, but, Mr. Fallis, what he actually said was he had four children at home and it would be in his mind, but he could put it out of his head. He was very clear about that. . . I'll disallow that as a cause challenge.

The court did, however, excuse prospective jurors who had stated that "age would weigh heavily in the guilt phase" (TR 513); that age "would affect his thinking" (TR 513); and that "age would make a difference" (TR 516). The court did not excuse a prospective juror who expressed "difficulty but not an inability" as to the age of the victim (TR 515).

After the defense exhausted its peremptories, defense counsel asked for more peremptories. The court asked defense counsel to identify any of the twelve jurors he would challenge if granted extra peremptories (TR 536). Defense counsel identified only Harriet Safer (TR 537). After some discussion about what Safer's

voir dire answers had been, the trial court asked, "And that was the one that you would ask for an additional challenge for?"

Defense counsel answered, "Yes, Your Honor." After thus making sure which juror defense counsel would challenge if granted an additional peremptory, the trial court denied "the defense's motion for an additional challenge" (TR 537).

The law in this State is that in order to preserve any issue about the denial of a challenge for cause, a defendant must first exhaust all of his peremptory challenges and seek an additional challenge which is denied. Kearse v. State, 662 So.2d 677, 683 (Fla. 1995). Cummings' trial counsel clearly satisfied this initial requirement. However, in addition, the defendant must at the same time "identify a specific juror whom he otherwise would have struck peremptorily" and this juror must have "actually sat on the jury." Ibid. Although trial counsel did identify a specific juror, he did **not** identify Randall Bold as a juror whom defense counsel would have struck peremptorily if an additional challenge had been granted. In effect, Cummings is complaining about the denial of an additional peremptory on a ground not raised at trial. _elm_ors_v_State_ 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982) ("[I]n order for an argument to be cognizable on appeal, it must be the specific contention asserted as legal ground for the objection, exception,

or motion below."). Following the exhaustion of the defendant's peremptory challenges, Cummings' trial counsel did not renew his challenge for cause to Bold, or attempt to challenge Bold peremptorily, or otherwise object to Bold's service on the jury.

Trotter v. State, 576 So.2d 691, 693 (Fla. 1990). The only juror he complained about following the exhaustion of his peremptory challenges was Harriet Safer, It is now too late for Cummings to argue that he should have been granted an additional peremptory to use against Randall Bold. Pietri v. State, 644 So.2d 1347, 1353 (Fla. 1994) (issue not preserved when counsel failed to identify juror whom he would have struck peremptorily when he sought additional peremptories).

Even if preserved, however, there was no reversible error. Although the trial court may not have remembered Bold's voir dire answer correctly (it does not appear that Bold said he could put the age of the victim out of his head), nevertheless, a "conclusion or decision of a trial court will generally be affirmed, even when based on erroneous reasoning, if the evidence or an alternative theory supports it." Caso v. State, 524 So.2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1988). (This rule of appellate review may be referred to euphemistically as the "right-for-any-reason* rule.) Bold did not say (as did one juror who was disqualified) that the age of the

victim would "weigh heavily" on the issue of guilt. Bold did not even say that it would weigh "heavily" on the issue of sentence. In fact, he ultimately did not even say for sure that he would "weigh" the age of the victim at all; only that it "would be in my Cummings does not explain why such answer should have head." disqualified Bold. The age of the victim, after all, introduced in evidence without objection (TR 724), and the State does not understand the law to be that a juror should be required to put properly admitted evidence out of his head. although the State acknowledges that the age of the victim was not a statutory aggravator at the time of the trial, the State does not agree that the age of the victim was irrelevant to the issue of This Court has held that the weight properly accorded to an aggravator will depend upon a consideration of the "totality of the circumstances in a case," Porter v. State, 564 So.2d 1060, 1064 (Fla. 1990), and, more specifically, that the age of a victim is a circumstance which may properly be considered. State, 619 So.2d 255, 259-60 (Fla. 1993) (age of victim of prior

⁵The State would note that under present law, enacted since Cummings' trial, the fact that the murder victim was a person under the age of 12 is a statutory aggravator. § 921.141 (5) (1), Fla. Stat. 1996. If Cummings were to be resentenced, this statutory aggravator presumably would apply.

felony properly considered in determining weight to given the prior-violent-felony aggravating factor). Juror Bold was not disqualified to serve as a juror simply because the age of the victim would be "in his head." Cummings has failed to demonstrate that Bold was biased or prejudiced or that he could not 'render a verdict solely upon the evidence presented and the instructions of the law given by the court." Lusk v. State, 446 So.2d 1038, 1041 (Fla. 1984).

ISSUE III

TESTIMONY THAT CUMMINGS RESPONDED TO NEWS OF A CHILD'S DEATH WITH PROFANITY WAS PROPERLY INTRODUCED IN EVIDENCE; EVEN IF NOT, ANY ERROR WAS HARMLESS

Michael Gardner testified that he was with Cummings the day of the murder when Cummings received a page on his beeper (TR 820). After returning the call, Cummings told Gardner that Dap had 'jumped on" Andre Fisher. Cummings stated that he needed to go to his apartment "to get his shit" (TR 821-22). Gardner drove him there and then to Fisher's house, where he dropped Cummings off and left (TR 823-24). Later that evening, after Gardner had learned about the murder of Dap's nephew, Gardner saw Cummings in the company of Kevin Dixon. Gardner asked Cummings what had happened. Cummings answered that he did not know. Gardner told him, 'A baby

got shot." Cummings response was: "So fuck it" (TR 828). The next day, however, Cummings sought out Gardner to ask him to corroborate a false alibi that he planned to give to the police (TR 829-30).

Cummings' trial counsel objected on grounds of relevance and prejudice to that portion of Gardner's testimony in which Gardner described Cummings' profane response to the statement that a baby had been shot (TR 796-97, 813-14). The State argued that the response showed 'consciousness of guilt" (TR 797). After listening to a proffer outside the presence of the jury, the trial court overruled the objection. In the court's view, the fact that Cummings had attempted to establish a false alibi with the same witness to whom he initially had pretended ignorance of the facts 'makes [his response to the news of the child's deathl relevant" (TR 815).

On appeal, Cummings argues that his profane response was irrelevant or, at least, that any probative value was outweighed by prejudice. The State does not agree.

Cummings cites two cases. In <u>Conlev v. State</u>, 620 **So.2d** 180 (Fla. 1993), this Court dealt with a dispatch report in which an <u>unidentified person</u> made a statement that a man carrying a gun was chasing a woman. This Court held that while the fact of a statement may be offered to explain a police officer's subsequent

conduct, the content of such statement ordinarily should not be admitted. Conley obviously is inapposite. Not only was the statement at issue in this case made by the defendant himself (and not some unidentified third party), the statement in this case was not offered to explain the subsequent conduct of the person who heard the statement—it was offered to explain Cummings' own consciousness of guilt.

At issue in <u>Sinser v. Stats</u>, 647 **So.2d** 1021 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994), was the admissibility of actual threats made by the defendant to the arresting officer, the judge and the jury. The threats, particularly to the judge and the jury, were minimally relevant and highly prejudicial. No such threats were introduced in this case, and <u>Singer</u>, too, is inapposite.

In this case, Cummings' own statements about the crime were introduced to show consciousness of guilt of premeditated murder. When the consequence of the shooting was called to Cummings' attention, he did not claim that he was only shooting at the car or the house, or that he meant only to scare, not to murder, Instead, he effectively denied any part in the killing by professing ignorance about the murder and treating it as a matter of no consequence to him. Subsequently, however, he elicited Gardner's assistance in concocting an alibi. The fact that Cummings made

inconsistent statements about his participation in **or** knowledge of a crime was relevant to show that he attempted to avoid detection by lying and properly was offered affirmatively to show consciousness of guilt and unlawful intent. **Smith v. State**, 424 **So.2d** 726, 730 (Fla. 1983) (inconsistencies in various statements were "relevant to show that appellant had attempted to avoid detection by lying to the police"); **Blair v. State**, 406 **So.2d** 1103, 1106-07 (Fla. 1981) (defendant's statements were admissions or declarations which sought to provide an explanation of innocence; fact that they were inconsistent "shows not only guilty knowledge but also the very real intent to cover up the fact that [the victim's] death was the result of his criminal agency"); **State v. Frazier**, 407 **So.2d** 1087 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982).

Cummings' initial responses to Gardner's inquiry about the murder, coupled with his subsequent attempt to concoct an alibi for that murder, were highly relevant to show consciousness of guilt, and the State was not obligated to sanitize the language Cummings used to distance himself from the murder. The trial court did not err in admitting these statements into evidence.

Even if the trial court erred for any reason, however, in admitting the profane portion of Cummings' statements, such error was harmless. State v. <u>DiGuilio</u>, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). It

essentially is unrefuted that Cummings responded to the news that Dap had got into an altercation with Cummings' uncle Andre Fisher by grabbing an Uzi and rushing to Dap's house, where he and his codefendants fired 35 rounds at the doorway which Dap's brother-in-law (who closely resembled Dap in height and build) had just entered. These facts compellingly demonstrate Cummings' guilt of the offense of first degree murder. The fact that Cummings said "So fuck it" instead of "So what" in response to the news of the child's death was inconsequential to the jury's verdict.

ISSUE IV

ABSENT EVEN A SUGGESTION THAT CUMMINGS ACTED IN SELF-DEFENSE, TESTIMONY THAT CUMMINGS WAS WARNED THAT DAP CARRIED A GUN WAS IRRELEVANT AND PROPERLY EXCLUDED

Cummings attempted to offer the testimony of a witness describing a conversation with Cummings in which the witness had warned Cummings that he had "better be careful" because Dap was known to carry a gun and, in fact, had pulled a gun on the witness (TR 919). The State objected that, absent some claim of self defense, such testimony was irrelevant (TR 920). Defense counsel responded: "If [Cummings] was going out to settle the score with someone who he thought was known to be armed, was told was armed, and whether he carried a gun would be very relevant, Judge, and I

believe that's what we're arguing." The court disagreed, stating:

"If he had the right to be a vigilante, it might be. He did not
and I will not allow the proffer." (TR 922).

Citing no authority whatever, Cummings argues on appeal that the court's ruling was error. He contends that it makes his actions "less premeditated" if he was warned that Dap carried a Initial Brief of Appellant at p. 41. But Cummings does not contend that he acted in self-defense, or that he armed himself in case Dap sought him out. On the contrary, Cummings went looking for Dap, and even his trial counsel acknowledged that Cummings went to Dap's residence to "settle the score." Moreover, there is not even a suggestion that the person they saw in the carport was armed, or fired first, or acted in any way threatening or otherwise was an aggressor. It is well-settled that the character of the intended victim is irrelevant in these circumstances. Dubree v. State, 615 So. 2d 713, 721 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); Pino v. Kowlber, 389 So.2d 1191, 1194 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980). The trial judge did not err in excluding testimony that Dap was known to carry a gun.

ISSUE Y

THE TRIAL COURT WAS AUTHORIZED TO FIND THAT CUMMINGS KNOWINGLY CREATED A GREAT RISK OF DEATH TO MANY PERSONS WHEN HE AND OTHERS FIRED 35 ROUNDS INTO AN OCCUPIED DWELLING; ALTERNATIVELY, BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT ONLY GAVE THIS AGGRAVATOR "SLIGHT WEIGHT" ANY ERROR IN FINDING IT WAS HARMLESS

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